1979

# Microbiological Research Corp. v. Nadeem M. Muna : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

#### FACTS

Appellant, Nadeem M. Muna, received his Bachelor's Degree in Chemistry in 1951, a Master's Degree in 1954 in Biochemistry and Microbiology, and in 1968 was awarded his Ph.D. in Immunology and Microbiology (T. 129). From 1956 until 1968, while at U.C.L.A. and the Thomas Dee Hospital in Ogden, Utah, he worked with the immunofluorescence technique of tracing diseases (T. 199). In 1966 appellant published a paper in the American Journal of Clinical Pathology describing a procedure he, along with two other scientists, had developed to test patients for lupus erythematosus. The paper lists the equipment required as well as a step by step procedure for using immunofluorescence to perform an anti-nuclear antibody test (ANA) (T. 199 and Plaintiff's Exhibit 21). FL, HeLa and kidney cells were used by the appellant in making the slides for the test and these slides could be stored indefinitely until needed (Plaintiff's Exhibit 21 at 118). Appellant had good results from these slides five

years after they were made (T. 200).

Appellant spent two years at U.C.L.A. (1956 and 1957) where he developed an immunofluorescence test for Herpes virus (T. 211). He completed his Ph.D. studies in 1968 at the University of Utah where he participated in programs dealing with the growth of large batches of tissue culture cells. While at the University of Utah appellant and a number of his classmates and associates used flat Pyrex plates covered with Saran wrap to hold the tissue culture cells while they were propagating (T. 214).

During the fifteen years prior to 1968 appellant used many diverse cell lines, including the FL cells, to detect the presence of ANA and Herpes in a human patient (T. 200, 211). Appellant used isopropyl alcohol, ether and methanol to "fix" the cells during this time (T. 201, 227), and employed saline as a rinse in producing his early test kits (T. 200).

In 1968 appellant met Edward J. Mawod, a stock broker (T. 130). Appellant described to Mr. Mawod a research project which he was conducting which hopefully would result in a new method to detect cancer. Mr. Mawod then introduced appellant to three other gentlemen who agreed to raise capital to develop and market a cancer detection kit (T. 130). Microbiological Sciences, Inc. was incorporated, a lab was built and appellant was elected corporate president



and employed as its general manager. On September 4, 1968 appellant and respondent entered into a Management Contract (Plaintiff's Exhibit 22) and the development of a cancer detection kit was commenced. Microbiological Sciences, Inc. transferred its stock to a "shell" corporation shortly after it was organized and after another stock transfer and name change, it became Microbiological Research Corporation (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "MRC"), the respondent in this action. In May of 1969, respondent ran out of funds and was unable to purchase tumors necessary to the development of the cancer detection kit (Deposition of Nadeem M. Muna at 7-8).

Appellant advised respondent's board of directors that he felt that the commercial production of an ANA test kit was possible using the company's existing lab. Production and sale of the ANA kit commenced in September of 1969 (T. 135).

In 1972 respondent began marketing a toxoplasmosis test kit and in 1976, sale of a Herpes detection kit began (T. 135, 207). The Herpes kit is an immunofluorescence kit produced by using the same basic procedure as is used in making the ANA kit (T. 100). The toxoplasmosis kit is manufactured by respondent according to the procedures outlined in a manual published by the Center for Disease Control (T. 215-16). The only variation employed by respondent is the use of an ingredient called "Tween 80", which is also used

by Dr. Jack Remington, a California microbiologist who specializes in toxoplasmosis. The Hoffman-LeRoach Company, one of respondent's competitors, also utilizes Tween 80 (T. 216).

In 1970 respondent developed its own cell line and began using it in its test kits instead of cell lines named "FL" and "AV-3" (T. 203). From 1970 through 1974 appellant, on respondent's behalf, wrote several letters as well as a published article aimed at customers and potential customers. These documents claimed that respondent's test kits were superior because they utilized respondent's own special cell line (Plaintiff's Exhibits 1, 5 and 15). In 1974, however, one of respondent's technicians caused the loss of this special cell line and respondent commenced using FL and AV-3 lines (T. 203, 205-06). The basis of the "sales pitch" contained in these documents was thus eliminated and different marketing methods were required.

On August 14, 1972 respondent entered into an exclusive distributorship agreement with Smith-Kline Instruments, a California company. This agreement granted Smith-Kline the exclusive right to distribute respondent's ANA and Toxoplasmosis kits as well as any other products which respondent manufactured during the term of the agreement (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2). While this agreement was in effect, technical employees of Smith-Kline Instruments

worked in respondent's lab and assisted in the production of respondent's kits (Deposition of Nadeem M. Muna at 18). In December of 1975 Smith-Kline Instruments terminated its distributorship relationship with respondent and began selling its own ANA kit (T. 182, Deposition of Nadeem M. Muna at 15, 24). Respondent has several competitors who manufacture and market ANA Immunofluorescence, Herpes Immunofluorescence and Toxoplasmosis kits (T. 217, 218, 236, 238).

Appellant served as respondent's corporate president until February, 1978, when Mr. Mawod won the office in a shareholder's election (T. 4, 5). This election was preceded by a "proxy fight", and on January 24, 1978 appellant wrote a letter to all of the shareholders advising them that if he lost the election, he intended to quit working for respondent and start a competing business (Defendant's Exhibit 1). Mr. Mawod read this letter prior to the election (T. 63).

On February 28, 1978, after the shareholder's election, appellant and respondent entered into an Employment Agreement (Appendix "A"). This agreement purported to employ appellant as a consultant, research microbiologist and director of labs for respondent. Appellant continued to work in this capacity until on or about July 30, 1978, when Mr. Mawod, on respondent's behalf, terminated appellant's employment (T. 31).

Appellant then began preparing to manufacture

products similar to those sold by respondent. On September 28, 1979, respondent commenced this action and appellant has been judicially restrained from competing with respondent since that date. Prior to the trial of this case, appellant had petitioned the trial court for an order requiring that respondent post a bond pending the trial on the merits. This bond, which would have provided some protection for appellant in the event that respondent's case was found to be without merit, was denied by the trial court and the case progressed to its present posture before this Court.

SUMMARY OF TECHNICAL PROCEDURES INVOLVED IN  
MANUFACTURING ANA, HERPES AND TOXOPLASMOSIS  
TEST KITS.

Due to the complex and technical nature of the manufacturing processes which are the subject of the instant case, it is felt that a brief explanation would assist the Court in better understanding the issues. The following is extracted from the testimony of two of respondent's witnesses, Carol Golden, Ph.D., and Albert Leibovitz, as well as appellant's testimony and references to the record have been omitted.

ANA Test Kit

This kit is used by various laboratories and hospitals to test for the presence of anti-nuclear antibodies in a patient. When a patient's test reads positive, it is an

indication that he has lupus erythematosus.

In order to manufacture the kit the respondent propagates a number of FL or AV-3 human amnion cells in a growth media. The basic Minimum Essential Media is purchased from a commercial supplier and respondent adds certain other nutrients.

Glass slides, each having eight wells, are placed in a Pyrex baking dish and covered with the cells. The baking dish is covered with Saran wrap and the cells are allowed to grow until one layer covers the baking dish. The growth media is removed and the slides are washed to remove unwanted matter with a phosphate buffered saline solution.

The cells remaining on the wells of each slide are fixed (the growth is stopped) using isopropyl alcohol, and the slides are placed in a buffer and glycerine solution to preserve them. Respondent provides Antihuman Globulin which has a fluorescein additive with each test kit.

The laboratory places the Antihuman Globulin on the wells of the slide and a sample patient's blood is also placed on the well. Each of the eight wells of the slide can be used to test individual patients. The slide is placed under a fluorescence microscope and if a greenish-yellow fluorescent color appears, the test is positive.

#### Herpes Test Kit

The Herpes 1 and 2 test kits are manufactured and

used in virtually the same manner except that Herpes virus is added to the slides in place of the Antihuman Globulin. The respondent purchases its Herpes virus from the University of Utah.

### Toxoplasmosis Test Kit

This test does not employ the use of tissue culture techniques. A known parasite toxoplasmosis strain is inserted into a living mouse's belly and when the mouse becomes inactive and has ruffled fur the toxoplasmosis cells are removed. These cells are placed on slides and killed with formaldehyde. The slides are used by the laboratories and hospitals in much the same manner as the two previously discussed tests.

## POINT I

THE 1978 EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT SUPERSEDED THE 1968 EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT AND BECAME THE SOLE BINDING AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

A. THE LANGUAGE CONTAINED IN THE 1978 AGREEMENT EXPRESSLY TERMINATED ALL PRIOR EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS.

An elementary principle of law allows that parties to a contract may, by means of a new contract, put an end to their old bargain and strike a new one; or, as stated in 17A C.J.S., Contracts, sec. 394: "As a contract is the result of agreement, so an agreement may put an end to a contract."

Paragraph 1 of the 1978 employment agreement states:

"All previous employment agreements and understandings in connection therewith are hereby mutually terminated and settled."

(Emphasis added.) (Appendix "A" at 1). A more succinct statement of the intent of the parties regarding this point would be difficult to draft. The Utah Supreme Court has set forth a clear guideline for discerning the intentions of the parties to a contract:

Elementary is it is that in construing contracts we seek to determine the intentions of the parties. But it is also elementary and of extreme practical importance that we hold contracting parties to their clear and understandable language deliberately committed to writing and endorsed by them as signatories thereto. Were this not so business, one with another among our citizens, would be relegated to the chaotic, and the basic purpose of the law to supply enforceable

rules of conduct for the maintenance and improvement of an orderly society's welfare and progress would find itself impotent. It is not unreasonable to hold one responsible for language which he himself espouses. Such language is the only implement he gives us to fashion a determination as to the intentions of the parties. Under such circumstances, we should not be required to embosom any request that we ignore that very language. This is as it should be. The rule excluding matters outside the four corners of a clear, understandable document, is a fair one, and one's contentions concerning his intent should extend no further than his own clear expressions.

Jensen's Used Cars v. Rice, 7 Utah2d 276, 323 P.2d 259, 260-261 (1958). See also: Oberhansly v. Earle, 572 P.2d 1384 (Utah 1977).

Language of a comparably express tenor was given such a strict interpretation in Burns v. Reliance Life Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, 122 W.Va. 708, 12 S.E.2d 509 (1941), a case involving employment contracts signed in 1924 and 1935 which were asserted to terminate and supersede an employment contract signed in 1915. Both the 1924 and 1935 contracts contained essentially the following language:

This agreement shall take effect on the 20th day of February, 1924, and all previous communications between the parties hereto, verbal or written, are hereby abrogated and withdrawn, and this agreement, when duly signed and approved, constitutes the agreement between the parties hereto, and



no modification of this accepted agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto, or either of them, unless in writing hereon duly accepted by the second party and approved by the proper officers of the first party. Id. at 510.

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia held the above-quoted language to be sufficient to effect a termination of the 1915 contract. Appellant contends that the express language of paragraph 1 of the 1978 employment agreement in the instant case is even more explicit than that at issue in Burns, supra.

Respondent is likely to argue that, despite the express language, it could not have intended to substitute the 1978 agreement for the 1968 agreement because it contends that it had no knowledge of the 1968 agreement. In Fogdall v. Lewis & Clark College, 590 P.2d 775 (Or.App. 1979), facial inconsistencies between two contracts of employment were found to be sufficient evidence of intent for the later agreement to supersede the prior agreement. The court also stated, "The law of contracts is not concerned with parties' undisclosed intents and ideas. It gives heed only to their communications and overt acts." Id. at 780. Appellant maintains that the facial inconsistencies between the contracts at issue in the instant case are sufficient evidence of respondent's intent. This Court should find that paragraph 1 of the 1978 employment agreement terminated the 1968 employment agreement and thus

conclude that the 1978 agreement superseded the 1968 agreement and became a substitute therefor.

A second principle of contract interpretation is equally supportive of appellant's theory of substitution of contracts: a contract drawn up by a party's attorney must be strictly construed against that party. Guinand v. Walton, 22 Utah2d 196, 450 P.2d 467 (1969). See also: Wingets, Inc. v. Bitters, 28 Utah2d 231, 500 P.2d 1007 (1972); Skousen v. Smith, 27 Utah2d 169, 493 P.2d 1003 (1972). In the instant case, the 1978 agreement having been drawn up by respondent's attorney (T. 19), it must be strictly construed against respondent. If the language of paragraph 1 of the 1978 agreement is to be given the force and binding effect dictated by Utah case law, the 1978 agreement must be interpreted as terminating the 1968 agreement and operating as the sole binding contract between the parties.

B. THE 1978 AGREEMENT BECAME A SUBSTITUTED  
CONTRACT FOR THE 1968 AGREEMENT BY OPERATION  
OF LAW.

In 17A C.J.S., Contracts, sec. 395, it is stated that: "A contract complete in itself will be conclusively presumed to supersede and discharge another one made prior thereto between the same parties concerning the same subject matter, where the terms of the latter are inconsistent with those of the former so that they cannot subsist together." (Emphasis added.) This maxim has received a strong

endorsement from the Supreme Court of Nebraska in Goings v. Gerken, 200 Neb. 247, 263 N.W.2d 655 (1978), wherein the court quoted the language of In re Estate of Wise, 144 Neb. 273, 13 N.W.2d 146 (1944): "A contract complete in itself will be conclusively presumed to supersede and discharge another one made prior thereto between the same parties concerning the same subject matter, where terms of the later are inconsistent with those of the former so that they cannot subsist together." 263 N.W.2d 655, 658 (Emphasis added.)

The notion that a subsequent contract may be substituted for a prior contract between the same parties is recognized by the Utah Supreme Court in Hanover Limited v. Fields, 568 P.2d 751 (Utah 1977). In Hanover Limited, a later earnest money agreement which was "complete on its face and contained no ambiguities" was found to have been substituted for a prior real estate contract. Id. at 753. Appellant contends that the court's logic in Hanover is applicable with equal force in the case of two employment contracts.

Appellant's theory on this point is supported by the findings of the Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit in Decca Records v. Republic Recording Company, 235 F.2d 360 (6th Cir. 1956). In Decca Records, a pianist had signed an employment agreement on an unspecified date prior to 1952 with Tennessee Records. On February 9, 1953, the pianist, Del Wood, signed a new employment contract with Republic Recording Company. (In Decca Records, Republic Recording

Company was the successor to Tennessee Records, just as in the instant case where Microbiological Research Corporation was the successor to Microbiological Sciences, Inc.). In finding that the 1953 employment contract was a substituted contract for the prior employment agreement, the court stated,

But the legal effect of the new contract afterward executed between Republic and Del Wood was to rescind and supersede the former contract executed between Tennessee and Del Wood, which had been assigned to Republic. A second contract of a later date that an earlier contract containing the same subject matter, but containing terms inconsistent with the former contract, will supersede the former contract even though there is no express agreement that the new contract shall have that effect. Id. at 363. (Citations omitted.)

The express termination clause in the 1978 agreement in the instant case has been previously emphasized by appellant. It should also be noted that the 1978 agreement contains terms pertaining to virtually every individual subject discussed in the 1968 agreement.

In determining whether a new employment contract will be found to supersede a prior employment contract in the absence of express language to that effect, courts have often closely scrutinized the employee's position to see if there has been a change of circumstances. If a significant change of circumstances has occurred, the new employment contract is more likely to be deemed a substitute for the old one.

A change of circumstances has included such fact patterns as a termination and a rehiring, a change in offices, positions, titles or roles by the employee, changes in compensation, changes in duties, lapse of time, and various other factors. In the following cases, the court placed great weight on whether a change in circumstances had occurred.

In M. S. Jacobs and Associates, Inc. v. Duffley, 303 A.2d 921 (Pa. 1973), a salesman signed an employment contract in 1968 which contained a covenant against competition. In 1969, the employee tendered his resignation, but remained employed after receiving a raise. The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania found that no novation of the 1968 contract had occurred in 1969 because "the resignation was never accepted and . . . appellee's pay was never stopped." Id. at 923. In the instant case, respondent admits that appellant was "discharged" and subsequently entered into a "new employment agreement". (R. 132). Moreover, appellant's status changed from that of President and General Manager to Director of Labs and consultant, his salary went from \$12,000 per year to \$17.00 per hour, and appellant was no longer to be reimbursed for business expenses that he incurred. (Appendices "A" and "B"). These facts constitute a change in circumstances which was missing in M. S. Jacobs and Associates, Inc., supra.

If the 1978 agreement is not found to have superseded the 1968 agreement in its entirety, the two agreements should at least be read together, with the inconsistent parts of

the 1978 contract superseding the prior 1968 conflicting provisions. Such an approach was utilized by the Supreme Court of North Dakota in Metcalf v. Security Intern. Ins. Co., 261 N.W.2d 795 (N.D. 1977), wherein the court read employment contracts executed in 1963, 1967 and 1972 together, holding that later inconsistent provisions superseded prior clauses which were in conflict. In the instant case, the 1978 and 1968 agreements are inconsistent in essentially three areas: (1) appellant's position, title and responsibilities; (2) compensation; and (3) the non-competition clauses. Specifically, these clauses read as follows:

(1) appellant's position, title and responsibilities:

1968 agreement

Management Contract

1. The Company hereby employs Muna as its President and General Manager for a period of five (5) years from the date hereof, and thereafter, from year to year, unless terminated by either party hereto by written notice at least sixty (60) days prior to any anniversary date of this Agreement.

1978 agreement

Employment Agreement

3. Muna agrees to act as a consultant and research microbiologist for Micro upon such problems and projects as the management of Micro shall specify, and shall be Dir. of Labs (CDC).

4. . . .

When not engaged in consulting work, Muna shall pursue the designated research projects and shall devote as much time to said employment as his health permits, but not to exceed 40 hours per week, without prior written permission.

(2) compensation:

1968 agreement

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