1980

Microbiological Research Corp. v. Nadeem M. Muna : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

The case of Rosenberg v. D. Kaltman and Co., 101 A.2d 94 (N.J. Super. 1953) is extremely similar to the instant case. In that case a contract was entered into between the plaintiff and defendant corporation in 1950 when Plaintiff was a sales supervisor for the company. One of the paragraphs expressly provided that the plaintiff could not compete against the defendant in certain states for a period of one year after termination of the contract.

Thereafter in 1953 the plaintiff ceased to be a sales supervisor for Defendant but was employed as a salesman. A second contract was entered into which also restricted Plaintiff's ability to compete but reduced the geographical area so restricted.

The plaintiff in Rosenberg contended that the restrictive covenant contained in the 1953 agreement superseded the 1950 agreement. A situation identical to the instant case.

The court first noted that it is primarily a question of the intention of the parties to be ascertained from the contracts themselves whether the earlier contract is discharged and superseded by a new contract. The terms of the second contract must be so inconsistent with those of the former contract that they cannot stand together. Id. at 96. The court therein stated:

The two covenants could have a concurrent existence, the first and greater to expire by its own terms one year after the date of Plaintiff's termination of employment as sales manager, and the second, one year after the termination of his employment as salesman. If there were any reasonable basis for

the defendant to require this protection in the original contract for one year after the termination of employment thereunder by reason of complete disaffiliation of the plaintiff with the defendant, there is no sound reason for imputing an intent to waive such protection from the fact that although the employment in one capacity was terminated, the plaintiff continued to be affiliated with the defendant in a limited capacity and in a limited territory. Id. at 97.

This same reasoning is applicable here. If there was any valid reason for restricting Defendant after leaving the company or from disclosing information obtained from the company, that reason did not terminate merely because Defendant changed his job status.

A fair reading of the two agreements reveals that the non-competing clauses are not inconsistent. Both agreements prohibit Defendant from competing during his employment but the 1968 agreement, in addition, requires that he not compete for five years after leaving his employment and that he not divulge information which is the property of the company. Therefore, regardless of what other inconsistencies may be present as to other clauses contained in the two contracts there is no inconsistency in the non-competitive clauses and the 1968 agreement must be given full force and effect.

B. Even Assuming Arguendo that there was no Express Contractual Provision Relating to Competition and Disclosure of Secrets, there Remains an Obligation Implied by Law Not to Injure Defendant's Former Employer.

Even if it is assumed arguendo, that the provisions in the

1968 contract are not binding upon the defendant the trial court was still justified in restraining Muna from competing or divulging confidential information based upon an implied obligation of employment. As stated by the 8th Circuit Court of Appeals:

The law is well settled that one of the implied terms of a contract of employment is that the employee will hold sacred any trade secrets or other confidential information which he acquires in the course of his employment, and that therefore an employee who has left his employment is under an implied obligation not to use trade secrets or other confidential information which he has acquired in the course of his employment, for his own benefit or that of a rival, and to the detriment of his former employer. Tlapek v. Chevron Oil Company, 407 F.2d 1129, 1133 (8th Cir. 1969).

Likewise, the Restatement of Agency also establishes an implied obligation. It states:

Unless otherwise agreed, after the termination of the agency, the agent:

* * *

- (b) Has a duty to the principal not to use or to disclose to third persons, on his own account or on account of others, in competition with the principal or to his injury, trade secrets, written lists or names, or other similar confidential matters given to him only for the principal use or acquired by the agent in violation of duty. . . . Restatement (2d) of Agency, Section 396 (1958).

The violation of a trade secret is based upon the violation of a confidential relationship and breach of trust rather than on the theory that the plaintiff might have a property right in the

trade secret. Stimson v. Lawrence-David, Inc. 356 P.2d 84 (Or. 1960). As stated by the United States Supreme Court:

Whether the plaintiffs have any valuable secret or not the defendant knows the facts, whatever they are, through a special confidence that he accepted. The property may be denied, but the confidence cannot be. E.I. Du Pont De Nemours Powder Company v. Masland, 244 U.S. 100 (1917).

Thus, an employee may be restrained from revealing information even though technically it does not arise to the definition of a "trade secret" if such information was obtained through confidence and through the employee's status in the company.

In the instant case, however, the evidence supports the trial court's findings that "Plaintiff's formulation of chemical and nutrients used in the propagation of sales and used in the manufacture of its diagnostic test kits are proprietary information and trade secrets owned by the plaintiff."

1. The Evidence Supports the Finding of Trade Secrets and Confidential Information.

Appellant has defined "trade secret" in terms of the Restatement of Torts, Section 757 (Appellant's Brief, p. 32). Respondent agrees with this definition and supplements comment "b" with the following sentence omitted in the quotation of Appellant. "It may be a formula for a chemical compound, a process of manufacturing. . .preserving materials, a pattern for a machine or other device or a list of customers."

Appellant asserts that under the Restatement of Torts defi-

nition the processes and material comprising Plaintiff's test kits do not constitute trade secrets and therefore, are not deserving of protection. (Appellant's brief, pp. 31-35). This argument is without merit.

First, a trade secret is not only the ingredients that go into making the product but also consists of the correct amounts of each ingredient and the particular procedures for mixing them. Morton v. Rogers, 514 P.2d 752 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1973). The fact that one or more of the ingredients or procedures used in the test kits are not unusual does not negate the fact that the entire process can itself be a trade secret utilizing these materials.

Second, and most important, Defendant has attempted to make an argument based upon testimony and evidence favorable to his position while ignoring contrary evidence presented by Plaintiff. As stated by this court in Brady v. Fausett, 546 P.2d 246 (Utah 1976):

In appealing this case, Brady seems to enjoin this Court with a principle to the effect that the evidence should be reviewed by taking as true everything he would do, to the exclusion of any evidence admitted at the behest of his opponents, irrespective of its weight, credibility, or admissibility--to which thesis we cannot prescribe. Id. at 248.

Appellant devotes some 11 pages in his brief to the analysis of each process or ingredient which Appellant claims may have been considered by the trial court to constitute a secret. (Ap-

pellant's brief, pp. 31-42). While it is no doubt true, for example, that there is evidence in the record showing that specific items such as isopropyl alcohol is commonly used as a fixative, the segregation of each of these items by themselves distorts the findings of the trial court.

As noted by the trial court, the plaintiff's process "taken as a whole" is not known to the industry and is guarded by Plaintiff's security precautions. (R., Vol. II, p. 13). Likewise, the record must be examined as a whole to determine whether there is support for the trial court's conclusions--even though they may be contrary to the arguments and evidence raised by Defendant.

Plaintiff's president, Edward Mawod, testified that in 1969 when the company was started, there were no commercial companies marketing the ANA test kit. (Tr., p. 11). He testified that the defendant repeatedly told him not to utilize outside consultants since they would not be qualified to assist in that the work was unique. (Tr., p. 12). He related that it took over one year to commercially develop a test for toxoplasmosis. (Tr., p. 21).

He explained the security precautions taken by the company. All files are locked in a fireproof vault with the president and Dr. Golden, the director of the laboratory, having the only keys. (Tr., p. 22). No person is employed with the company until he or she signs an employment agreement of confidentiality.

Any visitor must also sign a log and a non-disclosure statement. (Tr., p. 23]. All letters leaving the office had to be screened personally by Mr. Mawod. (Tr., p. 30). Although some of these procedures were instituted after Mawod became president, others were in existence prior to that time as evidenced by the 1968 employment agreement with Defendant. (Tr., p. 65).

Plaintiff called Albert Laibovitz, a professional consultant of microbiology, who had been involved in tissue cultures for 23 years. (Tr., pp. 69-70). This witness testified that the use of cookie jars and Saran Wrap was highly unusual in his experience. (Tr., p. 75). He stated that by Plaintiff making a slide which had a shelf life of over one year (using mere refrigeration rather than freezing) a unique product had been produced. (Tr., p. 76]. This witness made the following pertinent remark after having been examined as to individual ingredients:

But, I think when you look at a technique, you have to look at a technique as a composite method, and so the method of rinsing, fixing, and storage and the cells and then the slide are stored in phosphate buffered saline in the refrigerator up to a period of one year, and the method of storage, I think all is very unusual and I hadn't seen anything like that before. (Tr., p. 78). (Emphasis added).

Likewise, after noting that many of the ingredients used in the test kits were commonly utilized in the scientific community Mr. Laibovitz then said:

Now all of these ingredients have been used in a large number of different medium, but not in this combination. And so this combination is a unique combination being used in MRC. (Tr., p. 79). (Emphasis added).

The witness stated that with the large number of different possible combinations available in development of a kit that the chances were 99 out of 100 that the same process would never be duplicated by him even with all of his experience. (Tr., p. 82). He stated that given six months he could perhaps develop a test kit but that it would never be any better than that developed by MRC. (Tr., p. 87). The witness stated that the addition of tryptos phosphate broth and a buffer solution gives MRC's product an advantage over products of other companies. (Tr., p. 85). He also stated, that while other cell lines could be used, those employed by MRC made the product superior. (Tr., p. 86).

Dr. Carol Golden, Plaintiff's laboratory director with a degree in microimmunology, also gave her expert opinion as to the methods employed by the plaintiff company. She stated, for example, that using 27 slides in a baking dish was a unique idea and that she was not aware that Saran Wrap could autoclave. (Tr., p. 111). She also was unaware that tape could be used to hold the slides from floating to the top and she thought the tape would be toxic and would cause damage to the cells. (Tr., p. 112). When Dr. Golden first arrived at MRC, she did not understand why yeast extract, lactalbumen hydrolsate and tryptos-

phosphate broth were added to the normal media formula. After experimenting, she discovered that the product quality diminished when these ingredients were removed. She now uses them for the manufacturing process even though she did not know exactly what effects the additives produced. (Tr., p. 117]. She stated that she would never have chosen that combination of ingredients. (Tr., p. 118).

She noted that even with her experience, she would have a great deal of difficulty in devising methods to produce in mass quantities tests for ANA, toxoplasmosis, and herpes. (Tr., p. 120). She related that she had obtained kits from the major competitors, Virgo and Meloy and found that the location of the cells on the slides were different and that human cells were not used in their kits thus making them inferior. (Tr., p. 120).

Even the testimony of Defendant himself supports the confidentiality and trade secret claim of the plaintiff. Defendant admitted that the company promoted the kits through costly advertising. He also admitted that the company paid for several visits throughout the country promoting the kits and even for trips to Canada, Europe, and Costa Rica for promotion of the kits. (Tr., pp. 137-139).

Defendant acknowledged the interview with the Utah Daily Record where he stated that MRC had a unique product. (Tr., P. 146; Exhibit 36].

He also acknowledged that he had made statements in the

past that a unique feature of the kits was the human cells being used rather than rat cells which allowed for more uniform testing. (Tr., p. 155; Exhibit 1).

Appellant attempts to discredit Exhibits 1, 5, and 15 which were letters written by Defendant to various people praising the use of human cells in the various kits. Appellant asserts that he was only praising a certain line of cells which existed between 1970 through 1974. (Appellant's brief, p. 5). However, Exhibit 9 is a letter written by Defendant in 1976, two years after the extinguishment of the special human cells, in which he stated, "It is my scientific opinion and conclusion that the human amnion cell gives the most reproducible results." It was stipulated that Plaintiff is the only commercial producer, known to the parties, of ANA test kits which use the human amnion cells.

Defendant was asked to read Exhibit 5 which is an article for a trade journal written by him in 1974. When asked why he referred to the ANA test kit as being superior he replied, "Because I made it." (Tr., p. 161).

While claiming that he had developed several techniques prior to his employment with MRC he admitted that at the time of the incorporation he received 20,000 share of common stock "in consideration of the services performed and to be performed and processes developed and to be developed" by him. (Tr., p. 132; Exhibit 28). Thus, Appellant was handsomely compensated for any

knowledge or techniques which he claimed to have developed prior to his entry with the company and such techniques should inure to the benefit of Plaintiff regardless of the general rule that prior techniques are not the property of a company. (Appellant's brief, p. 36).

Dr. Muna also stated that it took over a year and a half to develop the toxoplasmosis kit and that Dr. Wentz was hired specifically to assist in this production at an annual salary of at least \$18,000. (Tr., pp. 164-166). Appellant attempts to argue that his 1966 article in the American Journal of Clinical Pathology states precisely the same technique which he developed for the plaintiff in the manufacturing of ANA kits. (Appellant's brief, p. 2). However, he admitted that the cells used in that article were not human amnion cells, that ether alcohol was used rather than isopropyl alcohol, that sodium bicarbonate was not used as a fixing agent and that petri dishes were used for the article rather than pyrex. (Tr., pp. 199, 222). Finally, the defendant admitted that there may well be over 1,000 different components for the making of nutrient media for cell cultures. (Tr., p. 225).

After the testimony of Defendant, Plaintiff's president, Ed Mawod, was recalled and stated that he had attempted to find the formulas of the medias and techniques used by competitors but that he was told by them that they were trade secrets. (Tr., p. 229).

The preceding recital of facts introduced into trial shows that unquestionably there was sufficient evidence to sustain the findings of the trial court that Plaintiff utilized processes and formulas which constituted trade secrets and confidential information. Even though Appellant may have introduced evidence to the contrary, the trial court was at liberty to decide the credibility and weight of the evidence. This court has stated that an appellate court will not reverse a trial court when the evidence is such as to sustain the findings made and the judgment rendered is based upon the facts found and is in accordance with the law of the case. Branch v. Western Factors, Inc., 502 P.2d 570 (Utah 1972).

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